
H E R M I S T O N 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting September 14, 2016 

A G E N D A 
~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ . .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ .. ~  .. ~ .. ~ .. ~ 

1. CALL TO ORDER - 7:00 p.m.

2. MINUTES of the July 13, 2016 regular planning commission meeting.

3. HEARING-at or after 7:00PM. This hearing is continued from July 13, 2016.
The hearing is to consider a request from EOTEC, for a variance from §157.057 (D)(3) of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances which establishes parking requirements in the Fairgrounds Overlay zone.  The 
applicant requests that the city grant a variance thereby allowing the number of occupants on the property 
equal to the number of allowed persons per parking space.  The property is described as 4N2813 Tax 
Lots 800 and 1400 and is located at 1705 E Airport Rd. 

1) Public testimony (people wishing to speak are asked to come to the microphone and state
 their name and mailing addresses) 

a. Proponents
b. Opponents

2) Close hearing
3) Findings of Fact

Action – Motion to Approve
4) Decision

Action – Motion to Approve

4. NEW BUSINESS
      Replat- NW Housing Alternatives 4N2811CD Tax Lots 1800, 25100, 25200, 25300 & 25400 
     Action – Motion to Approve  

5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

6. PLANNER COMMENTS AND UNSCHEDULED COMMUNICATIONS

A. Planner comments 
B. Unscheduled communications and general discussion 

7. ADJOURN



HERMISTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting  July 13, 2016

Chairman Saylor called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.  Commissioners Doherty, Flaiz, Caplinger, Fialka, 
Hamm and Rebman were present.  Commissioners Medelez and Erz were absent.  

Minutes 
Minutes of the June 8, 2016 regular Planning Commission meeting were approved. 

Hearing- Major Variance 
The planning commission is holding a hearing to consider a request for a major variance.  The request must 
be approved by the planning commission subject to the criteria established in §157.225 of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances.  The applicant wishes to obtain a variance from §157.025 (D) 3 of the Hermiston Code 
of Ordinances which establishes rear yard setback requirements in a (R-1) Single Family Residential zone. 
The applicant, Dave Otnes, proposes to construct a shop that will be three feet into the ten foot setback.  The 
property is described as 4N 28 15AB Tax Lot 10500 and is located at 1035 W Judith Pl. 

Chairman Saylor asked if any commissioners had a conflict of interest.  Hearing none, the hearing was 
opened at 7:01 and the following guidelines were read: 

a. The applicable substantive criteria relied upon by the City in rendering the decision to grant
the variance are contained in §157.225 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances.

b. Testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described above or other criteria
in the comprehensive plan or land use regulations which the person believes apply to the
decision.

c. Failure to raise an issue by the close of the record at or following the hearing, in person or by
letter, precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) or the city council based
on that issue.

d. Failure to raise an issue with sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker and the
parties an opportunity to respond to that issue precludes appeal to LUBA or the city council
based on that issue.

e. Failure to raise constitutional or other issues relating to proposed conditions of approval with
sufficient specificity to allow the local government or its designee to respond to the issue
precludes an action for damages in circuit court.

f. Prior to the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, any participant may request an opportunity
to present additional evidence, arguments or testimony regarding the application.  The
planning commission shall grant such a request by continuing the public hearing pursuant to
ORS 197.763(6)(B) or leaving the record open for additional written evidence, arguments or
testimony pursuant to ORS 197.763(6)(C).

For this hearing, the process begins with the staff report, followed by testimony from the applicants 
and any other supporters of the application.  This will be followed by opponents to the application. 
Finally, a rebuttal by the applicant will be allowed.  The public hearing portion of the procedure will 
then be closed, and the planning commission will consider the information and testimony received 
and may render a decision. 



Hermiston Planning Commission     Page 2 of 6           July 13, 2016 

The staff report was presented by City Planner Clinton Spencer. 

Testimony 
Dave Otnes, 1035 W Judith Pl.  Mr. Otnes stated he needs a shop.  The proposed plan puts only a small 
corner of the shop in the setback.   

The hearing was closed at 7:13.  

Findings of Fact 
Exceptional or extraordinary conditions apply to the property that do not apply generally to other 
properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of lot size, shape, topography or 
other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. 

1. The property is an unusual configuration with few right-angle lot line intersections and no straight
front lot line. This configuration creates few buildable areas which can meet setbacks and not
interfere with existing buildings.

2. The property contains a 25 foot irrigation easement for a buried irrigation pipe.  This irrigation
easement renders a large portion of the rear yard unbuildable.

3. Areas not constrained by existing buildings, irrigation easements, or odd lot line angles are limited.

4. Construction of the shop at the standard 10 foot setback line will require moving an existing patio or
constructing a smaller shop.

The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant that is substantially 
the same as is possessed by owners of other property in the same zone or vicinity. 

5. The variance is necessary to build the structure and make full use of the property.

6. The majority of the shop will be located outside of the setback area with only a portion of the
northeast corner of the building encroaching.

The authorization of the variance shall not be materially detrimental to the purposes of the zoning 
ordinance, be injurious to property in the zone or vicinity in which the property is located, or be 
otherwise detrimental to the objectives of any development pattern or policy. 

7. The variance will allow only a small portion (roughly 24 square feet) to encroach into the setback
area and not allow an entire wall of the structure to encroach.

8. Any variance approved is vetted by the planning commission through the public hearing process and
duly noticed to neighboring property owners and the public at large.  This process guarantees an
opportunity that all public concerns will be voiced to the planning commission.



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 3 of 6                                                             July 13, 2016 

It is impractical to maintain the zoning ordinance requirements and at the same time build, erect or 
use the structure. 

9. The variance is necessary for the construction of a 12’ x 28’ shop.

10. The applicant considers the 12’ x 28’ size to be optimal for workshop purposes.  A smaller size
which fits within the zoning requirements is not practical for some shop related uses.

The variance requested is the minimum variance from the provisions and standards of the zoning 
ordinance which will alleviate the hardship. 

11. As stated in Finding #10, the applicant considers the 12’ x 28’ size to be optimal for workshop
purposes.  A smaller size which fits within the zoning requirements is not practical for some shop
related uses.

Commissioner Caplinger moved and Commissioner Fialka seconded to approve the findings as written. 
Motion passed unanimously.  Commissioner Caplinger moved and Commissioner Fialka seconded to 
approve the variance as proposed.  Motion passed unanimously.  

Hearing- Major Variance 
The planning commission is holding a hearing to consider a request for a major variance.  The request must 
be approved by the planning commission subject to the criteria established in §157.225 of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances.  The applicant wishes to obtain a variance from §157.025 (D) 2 of the Hermiston Code 
of Ordinances which establishes a seven foot side yard setback requirement in a (R-1) Single Family 
Residential zone.  The applicants, Bruce & Susan Jones, propose to construct a garage five and a half feet 
from the property line.  The property is described as 4N 28 02BD Tax Lot 1800 and is located at 40 NE 
Alora Drive. 

No commissioners had a conflict of interest.  The hearing was opened at 7:15pm.  The reading of the 
hearing guidelines was waived without any objections.    

City Planner Clinton Spencer presented the staff report. 

Testimony 
Bruce Jones, 40 NE Alora Drive.  Mr. Jones stated he has lived in the home for about 20 years and is not 
interested in moving.  He would like to build the additional garage to enclose his toy.   

The hearing was closed at 7:25PM.  

Findings of Fact 
Exceptional or extraordinary conditions apply to the property that do not apply generally to other 
properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of lot size, shape, topography or 
other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. 

1. The house is constructed approximately 15 feet from the side lot line.  It is not possible to add a 10
foot wide garage bay to the existing garage without encroaching into the 7 foot side yard setback.



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 4 of 6                                                             July 13, 2016 

The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant that is substantially 
the same as is possessed by owners of other property in the same zone or vicinity. 

2. The variance is necessary to build the structure and make full use of the property.

3. A 10’ x 20’ garage is the smallest size a single car garage can be constructed at.  A minimum of 8
feet is needed just to accommodate the garage door.

The authorization of the variance shall not be materially detrimental to the purposes of the zoning 
ordinance, be injurious to property in the zone or vicinity in which the property is located, or be 
otherwise detrimental to the objectives of any development pattern or policy. 

4. The variance will still provide a 5.5 foot side yard which is adequate to allow access to the rear yard
and maintain spacing from neighboring properties.

5. Any variance approved is vetted by the planning commission through the public hearing process and
duly noticed to neighboring property owners and the public at large.  This process guarantees an
opportunity that all public concerns will be voiced to the planning commission.

It is impractical to maintain the zoning ordinance requirements and at the same time build, erect or 
use the structure. 

6. The variance is necessary for the construction of a 10’ x 20’ garage bay.

7. A variance of 1.5 feet is needed to allow the construction of a 10 foot wide garage bay.  A width of
less than 10 feet is impossible to open a car door and exit a vehicle in the garage.

The variance requested is the minimum variance from the provisions and standards of the zoning 
ordinance which will alleviate the hardship. 

8. As stated in Finding #3 and #7, the 1.5 foot variance is the minimum variance that will allow a third
garage bay to be added to existing garage and still be functional as a garage with a standard 8 foot
door.

Commissioner Rebman moved and Commissioner Hamm seconded to approve the findings as written. 
Motion passed unanimously.   Commissioner Hamm moved and Commissioner Flaiz seconded to approve 
the variance request.  Motion passed unanimously.  

Hearing-Major Variance 
The planning commission is holding a hearing to consider a request for a major variance.  The request must 
be approved by the planning commission subject to the criteria established in §157.225 of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances.  The applicant wishes to obtain a variance from §157.057 (D) 3 of the Hermiston Code 
of Ordinances which establishes parking requirements in the Fairgrounds Overlay zone.  The applicant, Rob 



Hermiston Planning Commission     Page 5 of 6           July 13, 2016 

Dreier, of Frew Development, is requesting that the City grant a variance thereby allowing the number of 
occupants on the property equal to the number of allowed persons per parking space. The property is 
described as 4N 28 13 Tax Lots 800 and 1400 and is located at 1705 E Airport Rd. 
There were no conflicts of interest and the hearing was opened at 7:26PM.  The following guidelines were 
read: 

a. The applicable substantive criteria relied upon by the City in rendering the decision to grant
the variance are contained in §157.225 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances.

b. Testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described above or other criteria
in the comprehensive plan or land use regulations which the person believes apply to the
decision.

c. Failure to raise an issue by the close of the record at or following the hearing, in person or by
letter, precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) or the city council based
on that issue.

d. Failure to raise an issue with sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker and the
parties an opportunity to respond to that issue precludes appeal to LUBA or the city council
based on that issue.

e. Failure to raise constitutional or other issues relating to proposed conditions of approval with
sufficient specificity to allow the local government or its designee to respond to the issue
precludes an action for damages in circuit court.

f. Prior to the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, any participant may request an opportunity
to present additional evidence, arguments or testimony regarding the application.  The
planning commission shall grant such a request by continuing the public hearing pursuant to
ORS 197.763(6)(B) or leaving the record open for additional written evidence, arguments or
testimony pursuant to ORS 197.763(6)(C).

For this hearing, the process begins with the staff report, followed by testimony from the applicants and any 
other supporters of the application.  This will be followed by opponents to the application.  Finally, a 
rebuttal by the applicant will be allowed.  The public hearing portion of the procedure will then be closed, 
and the planning commission will consider the information and testimony received and may render a 
decision. 

City Planner Spencer presented the staff report. 

Testimony 
Rob Dreier, Frew Development, LLC, on behalf of EOTEC.  Mr. Dreier stated that occupancy is based on 
area within the building and parking is based on occupancy.  Rodeo occupancy is based on amount of 
available seats.  The code is interpreted as one parking space per four seats.  This requires substantial 
parking spaces.  The vast majority of events at the rodeo will be less than the maximum.  They would like to 
be allowed to have events at both the rodeo and the event center simultaneously as long as total occupancy 
of the site is less than or equal to the number of parking spaces times four.   

Ken May, 1410 NE D & M Lane.  Mr. May referenced City code that requires all parking be on a hard 
surface.  Overflow parking should be paved.  The number of available parking spots is insufficient for 
cumulative occupancy at the site.  Mr. May suggesting looking at the state building codes.   He is concerned 
that senior citizens may get injured parking on an unpaved surface.  



Hermiston Planning Commission     Page 6 of 6           July 13, 2016 

Nancy Able, Ms. Able owns property abutting the overflow parking area.  She inquired how many acres the 
overflow parking encompassed.  Ms. Able feels that the approximately 18 to 20 acres is a lot of property. 
She has no objection to overflow parking.   

Dave Otnes, 1035 W Judith Place.  Mr. Otnes asked if there would be a fee for parking.  

Rob Dreier, Frew Development.  Mr. Dreier responded that charging a parking fee would be a governance 
issue for EOTEC and he did not represent them in that manner.  The non-large events held there so far have 
not had fee parking.  The overflow parking could hold about 3000 vehicles depending on how they are 
parked.   The overflow parking is for large events.  The large events are required to go through a pre-
planning process that will address lighting, parking lane layout, emergency vehicle access, etc.  This may 
vary from year to year.   

There was discussion about the current parking standards for the Fairgrounds Overlay zone.  The overflow 
parking area is required to be graveled or grass with dust control provided prior to use. This is specific to the 
zone. EOTEC is requesting a variance from the parking standard.   The Commissioners questioned the 
proper procedure to address the request.   They discussed if an exceptional circumstance existed to grant a 
variance for a parking standard created specifically for this place.  Consideration was given to amending the 
overlay zone.   Mr. Dreier responded that he is not trying to change the current ordinance.  The rodeo will 
eventually have seating capacity of 10,000 and based on the overlay, parking would need to be about 2,500 
spaces.  That number of spaces would only be used one week a year.  On a regular basis, less than 2,700 
people would be using the facility.  As it was administratively approved, the rodeo and the event center are 
not allowed to have events simultaneously regardless of the number of occupants at those events.  If the 
request is granted, multiple small events could be held at the facility.  Mr. Dreier reiterated that adequate 
parking is defined by the occupancy of the facility.  The requested variance defines it in a way that the 
number of occupants be limited by the number of parking spaces regardless of the venue.   

The Commissioners have concerns that there is not an adequate number of parking spaces to meet the zone 
requirements for this facility.  The Commissioners discussed what else they would like presented so they 
can reach a decision.   The Commissioners would like to see what other cities with event centers with 
similar usage do, an EOTEC board member present at the continued hearing, and a timeline from EOTEC 
for completion of phased parking.   

Commissioner Caplinger moved and Commissioner Fialka seconded to continue the hearing at the 
September 14, 2016 regular Planning Commission meeting.  Motion passed unanimously.  

Planner Comments and Unscheduled Communications 
Meeting adjourned at 9:24PM. 



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
To:  Planning Commission 
From:  Clinton Spencer, City Planner 
Subject: EOTEC Variance Request - Continuance 
Date:  September 1, 2016 
 
The planning commission is holding a continued hearing regarding a request for a variance for the 
EOTEC facility located at 1705 E Airport Road.  The request by EOTEC is to limit the occupancy 
of the development to the maximum capacity allowed by their existing parking capacity.  The 
property is described as 4N 28 13 Tax Lots 800 and 1400.  The city has placed a zoning designation 
of Fairgrounds Overlay on the property.  The requested variance is from the overall parking 
requirement for the development.   
 
Background 
 
The city administratively approved the site plan for the convention center, fairgrounds, and rodeo 
grounds in September of 2014.  For reference, a copy of the city’s approval is attached to this 
report as Appendix B.  The approval condition specifically at issue in the variance request is: 
 

5. There are 2,000 seats proposed for the rodeo arena, requiring 500 parking spaces and 
34,650 square feet of event center floor area, requiring 346 parking spaces.  Six hundred 
ninety six spaces are provided.  Per 157.057 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances, parking 
must be sufficient for all public buildings.  The required parking is 846 spaces or 150 spaces 
more than are provided.  Therefore, as a condition of approval the city will require the 
event center and rodeo arena not be used simultaneously for events.  For example, a typical 
weekend could not see a rock and gem show in the event center and simultaneously hold a 
rodeo.  However, if the event hours do not overlap, then events could be held on the same 
day.  In order to accommodate exceptionally large events like the county fair or open air 
festivals, overflow parking may be utilized in accordance with the standards of 157.057 of 
the Hermiston code of ordinances. 

 
The EOTEC authority hopes to reinterpret this condition to cap the occupancy of the facility at a 
set number rather than build an extensive parking lot which would potentially be relatively unused 
for the majority of events.  An occupancy cap would be similar to the notion in the city’s parking 
standard that one parking space is needed for every four seats in a theater, auditorium, church, etc.  
Using this standard, the 675 parking spaces installed at EOTEC would cap occupancy at the rodeo 

Planning Department 

180 NE 2nd Street 
Hermiston, OR 97838 
Phone: (541)567-5521 
Fax: (541)567-5530 

planning@hermiston.or.us 
 



2 

grounds or convention center at 2,700 attendees.  Larger events like the county fair would still be 
allowed to use the overflow parking standard in the FO zone.   

At the time of the site plan approval in 2014, the rodeo arena was still under design.  The number 
of seats evidenced in the site plan was stated as 2,000.  The original number of parking spaces 
proposed was 696.  Subsequent construction and design revisions reduced the total number of 
parking spaces to 675.  Further design revisions changed the potential full capacity of the rodeo 
arena.  Using temporary seating and other seating amenities designed only for the Farm City Rodeo 
the maximum capacity of the rodeo arena increases to 9,500 seats.  EOTEC contends that this 
potential maximum capacity is intended only for the Farm City Pro Rodeo and similar large rodeo 
events and not for other day to day use. 

The fairgrounds overlay parking standard requires that parking be established sufficient for all 
public buildings on the property.  For the purposes of developing the site, the event center and 
rodeo grounds were considered as public buildings but smaller buildings such as livestock barns 
were not considered as public buildings due to the unlikeliness of their use at an event not in 
conjunction with either the event center or rodeo grounds.  Budget constraints on the EOTEC 
authority made it difficult to provide a full complement of parking for the rodeo and event center 
at 846 parking spaces.  Due to this limitation, the city established that either the event center or 
rodeo grounds could be used for an event, but not both at the same time, except during the county 
fair.  The EOTEC authority’s variance request is to reinterpret the parking standard to allow both 
facilities to be used at the same time, but that the combined occupancy of both buildings be limited 
to a maximum of 2,700 attendees. 

July Planning Commission Hearing 

The planning commission held a public hearing on July 13, 2016 to consider the variance request. 
The planning commission determined there was not adequate evidence presented by EOTEC to 
justify the variance request but continued the hearing to allow the applicant additional time to 
research potential mitigations in the event a variance is granted.  The planning commission also 
directed staff to research several issues before reporting back to the planning commission. 

Staff research 

Similar fairgrounds and event centers in Oregon and Washington.  

Appendix A to this report lists seven fairgrounds and regional event centers and their ratio of paved 
to unpaved parking.  Facilities which are purely fairgrounds such as the Polk and Benton County 
Fairgrounds rarely have paved parking sufficient to accommodate all of the public facilities on the 
grounds.  Facilities which are more developed event centers such as the Lane County Fairgrounds 
and Event Center and the TRAC in Pasco, do have paved parking adequate to accommodate their 
public buildings or at least have a very large amount of paved parking.   

Deschutes County Fairgrounds 

The Deschutes County Fairgrounds is conceptually a very similar facility to EOTEC. 
Additionally, the development process for the DC fairgrounds followed a similar development 
process.  Like EOTEC there is a large amount of paved parking and a large amount of overflow 



3 
 

parking.  Like EOTEC, the city of Redmond wrote a new zone to accommodate the fairgrounds.  
In both cases the fairgrounds eventually requested a parking variance as part of the development 
process.  The city of Redmond eventually approved a parking variance but the variance was 
appealed to LUBA and remanded to the city for further refinement.   
 
When processing the application for the Deschutes County Fairgrounds, the City of Redmond 
looked at the total parking requirements for all buildings on the property and determined 3,700 
parking spaces were necessary.  The city’s approval of a variance allowed for 1,000 paved spaces 
and 3,200 grass spaces for a total of 4,200 spaces.  The grass parking areas would also be made 
available to the community for recreational sports fields when not in use for fairgrounds uses.  It 
is important to note that the city of Redmond considered all structures on the property as requiring 
parking, from ticket booths to maintenance buildings, as well as animal barns and event spaces. 
 
In approving the variance, the city of Redmond used the following rationale in their adopted 
findings of fact (paraphrased and excerpted): 
 

1. The new fairgrounds provide significantly more parking than currently is available at the 
downtown fairgrounds. 

2. The fair can see as many as 60,000 visitors per day but it is highly unlikely that 60,000 
visitors would ever attend at the same time. 

3. The benefit to the community of additional grass fields for recreation and sports outweighs 
the public benefit of 3,700 paved parking spaces. 

 
EOTEC varies significantly in that the overflow parking areas are not proposed to be set aside for 
recreational uses, and in fact the entire property is fenced, limiting public access during non-event 
times.  If the same criteria used by the city of Redmond were applied to EOTEC the parking 
requirement would increase over the current requirement that only the event center and rodeo 
grounds necessitate paved parking.  The total fairgrounds development includes 88,200 square feet 
of animal barns and a 4-H building.  These would require one space per 1,000 square feet, similar 
to warehouses, and require an additional 88 parking spaces.  Thus, the total parking requirement 
for the entire facility, including an increased capacity rodeo arena at 9,500 seats, would be as high 
as 2,808.  The existing paved parking provides 675, and the 20 acre over flow parking parcel can 
easily accommodate an additional 2,200 parking spaces with adequate grading, sodding, or 
graveling. 
 
Event Management Plan 
 
When the city originally considered the approval of EOTEC and the creation of the Fairgrounds 
Overlay zone, traffic analysis and event planning was performed.  Lancaster Engineering worked 
with the city and EOTEC to consider the potential impacts building EOTEC in a rural setting 
would have on the transportation infrastructure.  The technical memorandum from Lancaster 
Engineering is attached as Exhibit G.  The timing of most improvements is contingent upon event 
attendance at EOTEC events.  For example, a signal cannot be installed until trip generation 
increases to the point that the state’s signal warrants are met.  However, the event management 
plan is in effect from day one of operations. 
 
The event management plan is a document detailing the steps that are required to adequately 
manage large volumes of traffic for high attendance events such as the rodeo or concerts.  EOTEC 



4 

is required to implement and follow the plan whenever an event will generate 1,000 trips per hour 
or more.  Compliance with the plan is an approval condition imposed by the city on the 
development approval.  The event management plan is attached to this report as Exhibit F. 

The city requires implementation of the event management plan for any event generating more 
than 1,000 trips per hour.  Based upon the planning commission’s discussion of the potential 
impacts of large attendance events, staff recommends the planning commission require a permit 
be obtained for any event that EOTEC anticipates will have 1,000 or more attendees.  An event of 
1,000 attendees has the potential to generate 2,000 trips considering in and out trips over one to 
two hours.  Any event that has more than 1,000 attendees should also be included in the annual 
report of events submitted to the planning commission for review. 

Permit and Report Forms 

Attached to this report are draft forms for city approval of large events at EOTEC and “after action” 
reports to report on the impacts of large events.  It is recommended that the planning commission 
consider the appropriate level of attendance which would generate the use of an event permit.  Staff 
recommends that this level be set at 1,000 estimated attendees.  One thousand attendees traveling 
in and then out from the event center would equal 2,000 trips or more.  Staff also recommends that 
the planning commission review the forms themselves for content and recommend any additional 
information to be generated by EOTEC or the city staff.  The proposed forms are attached to this 
report as Exhibits D and E. 

Alternative Options and Amended Recommendation for Potential Variance 

The planning commission recommended that EOTEC consider alternatives for future growth.  To 
date, EOTEC has not responded to these requests in writing.  There have been discussions about 
shuttles.  The shuttle option where EOTEC would obtain an agreement to provide overflow parking 
at a downtown location such as the high school or conference center and shuttle patrons from the 
parking lot to EOTEC is an option being considered and the planning commission may wish to 
require it.  Establishing a minimum parking requirement and putting the remaining parking in 
overflow would be similar to the Deschutes County variance.  If this option is pursued, the planning 
commission should establish a hard standard for how the overflow lot should be treated, either as 
irrigated lawn, or gravel.  Staff recommends the planning commission strongly consider the 
irrigated lawn option.   

The establishment of an appropriate level of paved parking is essentially a policy decision where 
the planning commission must establish a nexus between the likely attendance at a standard event 
and the appropriate level of service the parking lot will provide.  There is adequate paved parking 
on-site to accommodate any event in the event center and barns.  The rodeo grounds can be 
serviced with sufficient paved parking for 2,500 patrons which is equivalent to the permanent 
seating capacity installed in the arena.  The day to day uses anticipated for EOTEC can be 
accommodated with the paved parking installed. 

In consideration of the variance request, staff considers the variance concept sound, but the 
logistics of limiting occupancy on the site to be confusing and ultimately impractical.  Rather than 
considering a variance to limit the occupancy of the site to 2,700 people, staff recommends that 
the planning commission consider the ratio of paved to overflow parking and consider if the 675 



5 
 

paved parking spaces and 2,200 unpaved parking spaces will provide a workable parking 
configuration which will protect the public interest.   
 
In light of the parking plans submitted in Appendix A, 675 parking spaces is similar to large event 
centers in Oregon and much more than what is provided for single-use fairgrounds.  Although not 
an approval criteria, the planning commission should weigh the fact that there is no parking 
available for the fairgrounds at its current downtown location.  Creating 675 paved parking spaces 
and 20 acres of overflow parking is a vast improvement over what is available to the public now.  
Based upon the evidence submitted in this report, the planning commission should consider 
whether the parking plan proposed is acceptable and whether a variance from §157.179(A) 
requiring all parking spaces to be hard surfaced may be granted. 
 
Criteria 
 
The specific criteria relied upon by the planning commission are contained in §157.225(A)(1) of 
the Hermiston Code of Ordinances.  In granting a variance, the applicant must demonstrate that all 
of the following criteria have been met: 
 

1. Exceptional or extraordinary conditions apply to the property that do not apply generally 
to other properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of lot size, 
shape, topography or other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. 

 
2. The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant 

substantially the same as possessed by owners of other property in the same zone or 
vicinity. 

 
3. The authorization of the variance shall not be materially detrimental to the purposes of the 

zoning ordinance, be injurious to property in the zone or vicinity in which the property is 
located, or be otherwise detrimental to the objectives of any development patterns or 
policy. 

 
4. It is impractical to maintain the zoning ordinance and at the same time, build, erect or use 

the structure. 
 

5. The variance requested is the minimum variance from the provisions and standards of the 
zoning ordinance which will alleviate the hardship. 

 
It is not necessary to restate other ordinances and statutory requirements of the variance as part of 
the proceedings.  The granting or denial of the variance will not affect the requirements of the City 
of Hermiston to comply with building, plumbing and electrical codes, other ordinances, statutory 
or regulatory compliance issues. 
 
 
Draft Findings 
 
Findings are appended to the report.  The original findings as prepared by EOTEC are attached as 
Exhibit A.  Additional findings as supplemented by staff are attached as Exhibit B. 
 



6 

Draft Conditions 

Staff has prepared revised conditions to demonstrate how best to mitigate potential impacts of 
combining paved and unpaved overflow parking.  The planning commission should review the 
draft conditions and determine if additional conditions are necessary to fully address the impacts 
resulting from the variance. 

1. Approval of the variance is effective only for the site plan attached to this report as Exhibit
C.  The site plan consists of 675 paved parking spaces, the event center as constructed and
occupied in May of 2016, three proposed animal barns, two restroom buildings, and one
rodeo arena.  Any additional public buildings, except for additional free-standing restrooms
or similar non-display or event space, shall require a new variance application.

2. The planning commission will review the operations of EOTEC at the regular meeting each
January for the first five years of operations beginning in January of 2018.  The public will
be invited to provide testimony.  The planning commission will reserve the right to extend
the five-year review period as deemed appropriate by the planning commission.  At the
annual review session, the planning commission shall review an annual report to be
prepared by EOTEC which shall contain the following information:

a. A comprehensive list of all events at ETOEC during the previous calendar year.
b. A supplemental report of each event with an attendance of 1,000 or more.

Reporting of events with an attendance of 1,000 or more shall be made on the report
form attached to this report as Exhibit D.

3. All events which have an anticipated attendance of 1,000 or more shall submit a permit
application on the form attached as Exhibit E and event management plan to be reviewed
by the city.  The permit application must be submitted at least three weeks in advance of
the proposed event.  Each application shall include:

a. A parking plan approved by the fire marshal detailing the overflow parking layout,
location of fire lanes, and other items required by the fire district for fire and life
safety access.

b. A traffic control plan in accordance with the event management plan developed by
Lancaster Engineering and reviewed by the police department.

c. A site plan for each event which shows location of temporary structures, temporary
restrooms, and ADA facilities.  The site plan shall be reviewed and approved by
the building official.

d. Evidence of notice to neighboring property owners in advance of large events.
4. ETOEC shall provide off-site parking and shuttle service for the 2017 county fair.  An

estimate of ridership shall be submitted to the planning commission for review at the
January 2018 review session.  The planning commission and EOTEC shall collaboratively
determine if it is necessary to provide an off-site shuttle for future events.

5. The overflow parking lot shall be improved to provide enhanced pedestrian facilities
through the installation of 8-foot wide gravel foot paths along the west fence line of the
overflow lot and along the west side of the access drive.

6. When events utilizing the overflow parking are anticipated to extend more than 30 minutes
after dusk, temporary lighting shall be provided for the overflow lot.  A lighting plan for
the spacing of the mobile light towers shall be included as part of the large event permit
and the use of mobile lighting shall be documented in the event report.

7. The overflow parking lot shall be grassed and irrigated and mowed no more than five days
before each event utilizing the overflow lot.  EOTEC shall submit a plan and timeline for



7 
 

the installation of irrigation facilities for approval by the planning commission at the 
January 2018 review session. 

 
Planning Commission Action 
 
The planning commission may choose to approve or deny the variance request subject to the 
conditions as may be amended by the planning commission.  Staff has prepared a set of draft 
conditions to give the city certainty the level of operations will protect the public. Approval of the 
variance will change the city’s original approval of the EOTEC site plan and allow both the event 
center and rodeo grounds to be used simultaneously.  However, EOTEC will be required to follow 
the event approval process outlined above and the planning commission will annually review the 
impacts of the operations. 
 
Staff recommends the variance be approved subject to the draft conditions as may be amended by 
the planning commission.  It is important to note that the staff recommendation is to grant a 
variance from §157.179(A) which requires all parking to be hard surfaced, allowing EOTEC to 
distribute parking between paved (675 spaces) and grass overflow (2,200).  This is a different 
recommendation than originally requested by EOTEC to cap the occupancy of the site at a limit to 
be served by the paved parking only.  Should the planning commission approve this variance, the 
planning commission will also be committing to annually review the operations of EOTEC and 
specifically the parking performance for at least five years. 
 
  



8 
 

Exhibit A 
Findings from July 13, 2016 Meeting 

 
Exceptional or extraordinary conditions apply to the property that do not apply generally to 
other properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of lot size, shape, 
topography or other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. 
 

1. The requirement to provide sufficient parking is based upon the occupancy of each venue, 
each having large occupant capacity to support the Umatilla Country Fair and Pro City 
Rodeo. Section 157.057.D addresses the method parking for large events but does not 
adequately address parking requirements for small events with venues of large occupancy. 
The current code would require vast parking that will seldom be used, that will increase 
the impervious surface area, reduce the natural vegetation, and create more maintenance. 

The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant that is 
substantially the same as is possessed by owners of other property in the same zone or 
vicinity. 

2. The EOTEC site is a unique facility within the City of Hermiston with unique uses. This 
variance will allow the EOTEC site to provide multiple services to the community limited 
to the number of parking spaces. 

The authorization of the variance shall not be materially detrimental to the purposes of the 
zoning ordinance, be injurious to property in the zone or vicinity in which the property is 
located, or be otherwise detrimental to the objectives of any development pattern or policy. 

3. The authorization of the variance will have no negative effects on the objectives of any 
development pattern or policy and would not be detrimental to the purposes of zoning 
ordinance but will allow the development of parking on the EOTEC site that will closely 
match the expected normal use of the property and will limit the visual blight of a large 
seldom used parking lot. For these reasons the variance would enhance the area with more 
natural use of the land and therefore would not be detrimental or injurious to property in 
the zone or vicinity in which EOTEC is located.  

It is impractical to maintain the zoning ordinance requirements and at the same time build, 
erect or use the structure. 

4. The current implementation of the zoning ordinance limits the use of the site to one venue 
at a time regardless of the number of occupants utilizing the venue. The application of the 
variance will allow for the effective use of the EOTEC site by limiting the number of 
occupants to the site versus limiting the number of occupants per venue. 

The variance requested is the minimum variance from the provisions and standards of the 
zoning ordinance which will alleviate the hardship. 

5. The implementation of this variance limits the number of occupants to the site. It is the 
most minimal variance to accomplish the desired outcome. And it does not change the 
intent of the zoning but changes how the zoning is implemented.    

 



9 

Exhibit B 
Draft Findings Prepared for September 14, 2016 

Exceptional or extraordinary conditions apply to the property that do not apply generally to 
other properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of lot size, shape, 
topography or other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. 

1. EOTEC is a unique facility within the city and county and one of a limited number
statewide.  The facility is designed to accommodate both small events and large regional
events.

2. The economics of developing a community event center and a regional trade and event
center or fairgrounds are not equivalent.  A community event center will generally have a
daily use that is smaller and locally focused on small scale events.  Regional trade shows
or county fairs are rarer events which shall be specifically planned on a case by case basis
depending upon the size and type of crowd anticipated.

3. The impact of developing paved parking sufficient to accommodate 2,808 paved parking
spaces is fiscally prohibitive and environmentally unsound due to the need for large
stormwater storage and treatment facilities for nearly 20 acres of paved surface.

4. The public benefit of 2,808 paved parking spaces is not proportional to the construction
cost and ongoing maintenance costs associated with creating 20+ acres of paving when
only a small fraction is used in conjunction with most events.

5. Alternative design scenarios proposed by the city such as gravel access paths, irrigated
grass parking for overflow, and the potential use of the grass area for recreation purposes
provide a better public benefit by lowering construction cost while simultaneously
providing an opportunity for community use during otherwise passive times.

The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant that is 
substantially the same as is possessed by owners of other property in the same zone or 
vicinity. 

6. The Hermiston Conference Center is a 21,000 square foot building which was constructed
with 152 parking spaces on-site.  This is a similar facility to the event center as both the
event center and the existing conference center require a one space per 100 square feet
parking ratio.  The existing conference center also makes use of overflow parking for very
large events.

7. The two developments are not entirely equivalent due to the existing conference center’s
geographically constrained setting and repurposing of an existing building during
development rather than greenfield development in EOTEC’s case.  However, the basic
property right at issue is the same in both cases where a smaller economically feasible
parking lot is used for daily operations and overflow is used for much larger events.

The authorization of the variance shall not be materially detrimental to the purposes of the 
zoning ordinance, be injurious to property in the zone or vicinity in which the property is 
located, or be otherwise detrimental to the objectives of any development pattern or policy. 

8. The city establishes parking requirements in §157.176 of the Hermiston Code of
Ordinances.  These parking standards are designed to provide a reasonable number of
parking spaces to accommodate what is considered the likely typical heavy use scenario.



10 

The space requirement is not intended to accommodate a “worst-case” scenario.  A worst-
case scenario cannot be adequately planned for and accommodated unless excessive land 
is developed and significant financial investment in infrastructure is made.  The return on 
investment for a worst-case parking lot development results in rarely used parking which 
must be lit, maintained, drained, sealed, and periodically resurfaced, even though it might 
see no more than seven days of use per year. 

9. The planning commission finds that the 675 spaces installed are sufficient for most typical
uses of EOTEC, even in heavy use scenarios when the event center and rodeo grounds are
both in use.  The additional overflow area will provide sufficient worst-case scenario
parking during the Umatilla County Fair or other regionally significant events provided the
permitting requirements are applied to each event with attendance in excess of 500 and the
overflow parking is designed in compliance with the conditions of approval.

10. The planning commission finds that the issuance of a variance has been publicly vetted
through public hearings on July 13 and September 14, 2016.  Furthermore, the planning
commission finds that each issuance of a variance is considered on a case by case basis and
no precedent is established through the issuance of a variance and the variance does not
materially harm the purpose of the zoning ordinance.

11. The planning commission finds that the conditions of approval as adopted will prevent
injury to properties in the vicinity of EOTEC.

It is impractical to maintain the zoning ordinance requirements and at the same time build, 
erect or use the structure. 

12. Construction of the site with 2,808 paved parking spaces presents an impractical barrier to
the use of the facility.  Creation of 2,808 paved parking spaces is not financially feasible
for EOTEC while simultaneously constructing a useable fairgrounds facility and rodeo
arena.

13. The planning commission finds that the 675 proposed paved parking spaces are sufficient
to accommodate the majority of uses on the site.  The 675 spaces are sufficient to meet the
occupancy requirement of the event center (346 spaces) and the rodeo grounds (329 spaces)
during most activities.  As noted in Finding #9, the event permit process and construction
of overflow parking will mitigate parking issues associated with exceptionally large events.

The variance requested is the minimum variance from the provisions and standards of the 
zoning ordinance which will alleviate the hardship. 

14. There is sufficient paved parking on the site to accommodate any event in the event center.
There is sufficient paved parking on the site to accommodate typical uses in the rodeo
arena.  There is sufficient paved parking to accommodate any use in the barns and 4-H
center.  The planning commission finds that it is acceptable to provide 675 paved parking
spaces and 2,200 overflow parking spaces to accommodate typical EOTEC operations.
Constructing additional paved parking is not merited at this time.

15. The planning commission will require EOTEC to submit event reports for an annual review
by the planning commission each January beginning in January 2018.  If as a result of the
annual review, the planning commission determines that additional paved parking is
warranted, EOTEC will be responsible for constructing additional paved parking in the
overflow area as directed by the planning commission prior to the next Umatilla County
Fair.



































































 
 
 
 
To:  Planning Commission 
From:  Clinton Spencer, City Planner 
Subject: Replat – NW Housing Alternatives 
Date:  September 2, 2016 
 
The City of Hermiston has received an application for a replat of property located on SE Fifth 
Street approximately 190 feet north of E Highland Ave.  The property is approximately 1.58 acres 
and is presently vacant.  The proposal will replat 5 existing lots into one new lot.  The replatted lot 
will be approximately 1.58 acres.  NW Housing Alternatives has purchased the property and is 
applying for the replat.  The property is zoned Multi-Family Residential (R-3) and is described as 
a 4N 28 11CD Tax Lots 1800, 25100, 25200, 25300, and 25400.   
 
The replat is proposed to simplify future redevelopment of the parcel through the elimination of 
existing lot lines.  As of the date of this staff report, NW Housing Alternatives has not submitted 
a plan for building on the reconfigured lot.  It is staff’s understanding that NW Housing 
Alternatives plans to develop multi-family housing on the parcel in the future.  Future development 
and building is a separate review process for the city. 
 
Public notice was provided for the proposed replat.  Notice of the proposed land use action was 
mailed by direct mail to all property owners within 100 feet on August 30, 2016.  A sign informing 
the public of the proposal was placed on the property on August 31, 2016.  Staff received several 
inquiries as a result of the noticing.  Although no objections were specifically filed, there is concern 
over the potential for additional multi-family housing in the neighborhood.  Bob Middleton, 29270 
Bloom Road, testified that the irrigation ditch on the property may overflow in the future.  
Irrigation district review of the plat and subsequent development is a city requirement. 
 
The criteria that are applicable to the decision to accept the proposed replat are contained in 
§154.15 through §154.46, §154.60 through §154.66, §157.027 and §157.101 of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances.   
 

Chapter 154: Subdivisions 
 

Design Standards 
 
§154.15 Relation to Adjoining Street System. 

 
Planning Department 

180 NE 2nd Street 
Hermiston, OR 97838 
Phone: (541)567-5521 
Fax: (541)567-5530 

planning@hermiston.or.us 



2 of 4 

The property is bordered by SE 5th Street.  No new street connections are proposed. 

§154.16 Street and Alley Width.

No new streets are proposed as part of this subdivision.  The existing right-of-way for SE 5th Street 
is 50 feet in accordance with city standards. 

§154.17 Easements.

A fifteen-foot drainage and utility easement shall be dedicated on the final plat along the entire 
frontage of the parcel.  It is not clear from the proposed plat if the existing irrigation ditch is 
protected by an easement.  It is typical for facilities of the Hermiston Irrigation District to be 
protected by an easement.  The survey shall clarify if an easement exists prior to the city signing 
the plat and it shall be shown on the plat.  Any development on the property will be required to 
respect and preserve the easement. 

§154.18 Blocks.

The proposed subdivision sits at a mid-block point.  There is an existing alley along the north 
boundary of the replat.  The city requires new street connections when blocks exceed 600 feet. 
The property is approximately 360 feet in width.  No cross street is required and the block design 
standards are satisfied. 

§154.19 Lots.

The minimum lot size in the R-3 zone is 6,000 square feet.  There is no maximum size in the R-3 
zone.  Multi-family lots require at least 2,000 square feet of lot area for each dwelling unit.  The 
lot will be approximately 1.58 acres or 68,824 square feet.  The parcel abuts a public street for at 
least 25 feet. 

§154.20 Character of Development.

The property is presently vacant.  It may be developed with single-family, duplex, or multi-family 
dwellings in the future. 

§154.21 Parks, School Sites and the Like.

The comprehensive plan and parks master plan do not indicate a need for any parks or schools in 
the vicinity of the proposed development.   

Minimum Improvements Required 

§154.60 Permanent Markers

Permanent markers shall be set as shown on the final plat in accordance with ORS 92.050 through 
92.080. 



3 of 4 

154.61 General Improvements 

The site is adjacent to SE 5th Street.  SE 5th Street is currently improved with a chip seal surface 
and no other street improvements.  As a condition of approval the property owner will be required 
to sign a street improvement agreement for SE 5th Street.  The street improvement agreement will 
bind the property to participate in or install half street paving, curbing, drainage, and sidewalk 
improvements along the property frontage.  In addition, should the property develop in the 
intervening time, installation of these improvements will automatically be required under the 
provisions of §157.164 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

§154.62 Water Lines.

All lots are served or can be served in the future by an existing municipal water line in SE 5th 
Street.  Depending on the scope of potential future development, the water department will assess 
the capacity of the water line at the time a development application is made. 

§154.63 Sanitary Sewer System.

All lots are served or can be served in the future by an existing municipal sanitary sewer line in 
SE 5th Street. 

Preliminary Plat 

Staff has reviewed the preliminary plat and determined the plat is prepared in accordance with 
§154.35(B) of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances.

Chapter 157: Zoning 

§157.027 Multi-Family Residential Zone (R-3)
The minimum lot size in the R-3 zone is 6,000 square feet.  There is no maximum size in the R-3 
zone.  Multi-family lots require at least 2,000 square feet of lot area for each dwelling unit.  The 
lot will be approximately 1.58 acres or 68,824 square feet.  The parcel abuts a public street for at 
least 25 feet. 

§157.101 Development Hazard Overlay Zone (DH)
Comprehensive Plan Figure 12 shows the northern portion of this property as an area subject to 
development hazards due to a high water table.  In accordance with §157.101 of the Hermiston 
Code of Ordinances, the city will prohibit the outdoor storage of hazardous chemicals or the 
underground storage of gasoline and diesel fuels unless an evaluation by a registered engineer is 
presented stating that the development will not contribute to groundwater pollution. 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff has reviewed the proposed partition plat and found that it is prepared in accordance with all 
requirements of the Code of Ordinances.  Staff recommends the planning commission approve the 
replat subject to the following conditions: 



4 of 4 

1. The applicant shall work with and receive certification from the Hermiston Irrigation 
District.  The city will not sign the final plat until the irrigation district is satisfied and signs 
the final plat. 

2. The applicant shall sign a street improvement agreement for future improvements to SE 5th 
Street adjacent to the property.  The street improvement agreement shall commit the 
property to participate in the future improvement of SE 5th Street, including half street 
paving, curbing, drainage, and sidewalks. 

3. In accordance with §157.101 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances, the property shall not 
be used for the outdoor storage of hazardous chemicals or the underground storage of 
gasoline and diesel fuel. 

4. An easement of 15 feet in width shall be added to the west property line of the property.  
This easement shall be for drainage, sidewalk, and utilities. 

5. The existing drainage canal on the property shall be amended to reflect any existing 
easements on the property unless the irrigation district and surveyor present evidence that 
no easement protects the canal. 

 



E PINE AVE

E HIGHLAND AVE

SE
 5T

H 
ST SE

 6T
H 

ST

0050003600

01003
03700

00903 00900 00902 00800 00803 00400 00300

0100104700 01702 01704

01901 01900

01700
01002

04600

04800

25400 25300

04502

25100
25200

04501

04500

04100

04200

01800

01701

01000

03900 07100

03801

23000 24000 25000
01600

06501
22000 21000 2000001500

00700
03800

04000

06500
17000 18000 19000

Legend
Area of Proposed Replat
Property Line
City Limits

0 100 20050
Feet ±




	091416pc
	The hearing is to consider a request from EOTEC, for a variance from §157.057 (D)(3) of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances which establishes parking requirements in the Fairgrounds Overlay zone.  The applicant requests that the city grant a variance the...
	A. Planner comments

	07-13-16pc
	Staff Report PC September Continuance
	part 1
	part 2
	part 3
	part 4
	Staff Report PC September
	UDesign Standards

	Property Map
	Preliminary Replat

